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To Karen



Preface

In the wee hours of July 21, 1944, Colonel Claus von Stauffenberg, a decorated veteran of the German army’s North African campaigns with the looks of a matinée idol, was led out of army headquarters in Berlin. He and three other condemned officers were told to wait in a narrow courtyard illuminated by truck headlights as a firing squad was hastily assembled. His sleeve soaked with blood from a gunfight only minutes earlier, Stauffenberg watched as the first three men were shot and their bodies carried away. Positioning himself to face the riflemen, Stauffenberg shouted a final act of defiance, “Long live our sacred Germany!”

The executions were the start of what would become a massive bloodletting throughout Germany, Adolf Hitler’s retribution for an attempt on his life in East Prussia only twelve hours earlier. That attack at the “Wolf’s Lair,” Hitler’s heavily fortified command post, had initially seemed to succeed, as a powerful bomb had detonated only feet from the Führer as he reviewed maps and battle plans with trusted advisers. Several had been killed. Believing that Hitler was among them, Stauffenberg and scores of others had launched a bold coup attempt that afternoon that had virtually shut down Berlin. Yet Hitler, incredibly, had emerged badly shaken but very much alive.

I first learned of the details of that night when working in Frankfurt as a correspondent for The Wall Street Journal. On a visit to Berlin, a friend pointed out to me the scene of the executions at the old army headquarters. The event seized my imagination, starting with the bravery of the men who had launched the plot. The odds of succeeding were slim, and the masterminds behind what is celebrated as Operation Valkyrie knew the grisly consequences of failure. Just as mesmerizing for me was how close they came to pulling it off. Were it not for small twists of fate, the conspirators would have changed the course of history.

Years later, I came across the seemingly unrelated figure of Allen Dulles. He is most famous for his service as the head of the US Central Intelligence Agency during the height of the Cold War. The failed Bay of Pigs invasion in Cuba and numerous US-sponsored coup attempts, from Iran to Indonesia, are part of his legacy from that era. Less known is Dulles’s role during World War II in Switzerland, where he set up a station for the CIA’s predecessor, the Office of Strategic Services (OSS).

Assigned the code number 110, Dulles made the station arguably the most valuable of America’s intelligence-gathering outposts. He and his men organized commando raids, cultivated spies in the heart of Hitler’s government, and rescued informants from the Gestapo. Dulles reveled in such operations and retold his exploits for years in books such as Great True Spy Stories. In the words of a British intelligence officer, Kenneth Strong, Dulles was “the last great Romantic of Intelligence,” a man whose stock-in-trade consisted of “secrets and mysteries.”

Running a spy ring, Dulles was party to numerous intriguing adventures, yet from my perspective, this didn’t necessarily provide a cohesive story line. For some time I wrestled with finding a common thread that would tie his work together and add a larger element to the narrative. With the help of my editor, Alice Mayhew, I unearthed the story that became this book—that of the German resistance leaders and the American spy who worked with them.

Men and women in Germany had been trying to depose Hitler for years before Dulles arrived in Bern, Switzerland, in late 1942. They were a diverse bunch, some working alone, others in groups, each driven by his or her own reasons. Such was their determination and cunning that on several occasions Hitler had barely escaped plots against him. Dulles, a former diplomat and lawyer with numerous German business contacts, offered a fresh resource.

As my research progressed, I discovered layers to the basic narrative. The story of Dulles and the resistance foreshadowed the Cold War. Almost as important as unseating Hitler was the concern over the nature of the regime that would replace him. Would Germany align itself with the West, or would it fall into the orbit of the Soviet Union? This was a question that greatly troubled Dulles, and it informed much of his work. He once described the conspirators as “realistic enough to appreciate that the Germany which would survive Hitler would not be a military or a political power, but under the control of the victors. But which of the victors?”

As the war entered its final phase, and relations between the United States and the Soviet Union were already strained, a covert operation by Dulles to secure the surrender of all German forces in Italy precipitated the two powers’ most open disagreement to that point. The Soviets perceived secret talks with SS general Karl Wolff as a trick to exclude them from the fruits of victory. Stalin reacted with venom. In the days before President Roosevelt died on April 12, 1945, the two Allied leaders exchanged a series of bitter messages over Dulles’s negotiations that portended deeper troubles in the future.

Most important for me was the narrative and the characters that comprised it. Though the vast majority of those who plotted against Hitler did not survive, the ones who did left thoughtful records that allowed me to flesh out their personal stories. The German double agent Hans Bernd Gisevius, who became Dulles’s main contact with one branch of the underground, displayed an arrogance that masked private worries about what he would accomplish in life. The well-born American Mary Bancroft, who worked for Dulles and had an affair with him, put great store in her intuition and the interesting people she encountered through his assignments. The clever Fritz Kolbe had no training in espionage, yet he managed to outwit Germany’s most sophisticated security operatives and would grow ever more ambitious.

As with any work of nonfiction, deciding what to leave out and what to include was difficult. This story is not intended to be an exhaustive account of the years Dulles spent in Switzerland, or of every aspect of the German resistance. Ultimately, this book is about the plight of people caught up in extraordinary times. Many could simply have chosen to play it safe and sit out the war as comfortably as possible. Yet driven by moral outrage and, frankly, by thrill as well, they rose to challenge one of the most feared governments of the twentieth century.

SCOTT MILLER

Seattle



Time Line

APRIL 7, 1893—Allen Welsh Dulles is born in Watertown, New York.

JUNE 16, 1914—Dulles graduates from Princeton University.

SEPTEMBER 22, 1926—Dulles resigns from the US Foreign Service and soon joins the law firm Sullivan & Cromwell.

DECEMBER 7, 1941—Japan attacks Pearl Harbor in Honolulu, Hawaii.

DECEMBER 11, 1941—Germany declares war on the United States.

JUNE 13, 1942—President Franklin Roosevelt establishes the Office of Strategic Services (OSS).

NOVEMBER 2, 1942—Dulles leaves New York for his OSS assignment in Switzerland.

DECEMBER 1942—Dulles meets Mary Bancroft, an American who would help with intelligence work and with whom he would begin an affair.

JANUARY 1943—Dulles meets the Abwehr agent Hans Bernd Gisevius.

JANUARY 14–24, 1943—Prime Minister Winston Churchill and President Roosevelt meet in Casablanca, Morocco. Roosevelt says Germany must surrender unconditionally.

AUGUST 19, 1943—Dulles meets Fritz Kolbe. Code-named “George Wood,” Kolbe would become one of the best human sources of information that the United States had about Nazi Germany.

FEBRUARY 4–11, 1944—Roosevelt, Churchill, and Joseph Stalin meet at Yalta, in the Crimea.

JULY 20, 1944—Colonel Claus von Stauffenberg leads a failed coup attempt against Adolf Hitler. Gisevius goes into hiding.

MARCH 8, 1945—Dulles meets SS general Karl Wolff in Zurich. Operation Sunrise talks begin.

APRIL 12, 1945—Roosevelt dies in Warm Springs, Georgia.

APRIL 29, 1945—Two German officers, part of Operation Sunrise, sign documents surrendering German troops in Italy.

APRIL 30, 1945—Hitler commits suicide in the Führerbunker in Berlin.

MAY 2, 1945—German forces in Italy surrender as agreed under Operation Sunrise.

MAY 7, 1945—German officers sign an unconditional surrender document in Reims, France, ending World War II in Europe.

SEPTEMBER 20, 1945—President Harry Truman signs an executive order disbanding the OSS.

DECEMBER 1945—Dulles formally leaves the OSS and returns to the United States.

FEBRUARY 1953—Dulles becomes director of the Central Intelligence Agency.

JANUARY 28, 1969—Dulles dies.



Principal Characters

AIREY, TERENCE—British army major general who met with Dulles on Operation Sunrise.

ALEXANDER, HAROLD—British field marshal, commander of Allied forces in the Mediterranean.

BANCROFT, MARY—American journalist who helped Dulles with his OSS work in Switzerland.

BECK, LUDWIG—German general and chief of the general staff. Resigned in 1938. Leader in the resistance thereafter.

BLUM, PAUL—OSS officer who joined Dulles in Bern in 1944.

BRUCE, DAVID—Head of the OSS’s London station.

CANARIS, WILHELM—Chief of the Abwehr, the German military intelligence service. Protected and supported resistance leaders opposed to Hitler.

CIANO, GALEAZZO—Italian minister of foreign affairs, 1936–1943.

DANSEY, CLAUDE—Deputy head of the British Secret Intelligence Service (MI6) who despised Dulles and his operation in Switzerland.

DOLLMANN, EUGEN—SS colonel. Worked with Dulles on Operation Sunrise.

DONOVAN, WILLIAM—Head of the American spy service, the Office of Strategic Services.

DULLES, ALLEN—OSS station chief, Bern, Switzerland, 1942–1945. Code number 110.

DULLES, JOHN FOSTER—Older brother of Allen Dulles.

GISEVIUS, HANS BERND—Member of the Abwehr who opposed Hitler and worked with Dulles.

GOEBBELS, JOSEPH—Reichsminister of propaganda, 1933–1945.

GOERDELER, CARL FRIEDRICH—Member of the resistance; former mayor of Leipzig.

HARRIMAN, W. AVERELL—American ambassador to the Soviet Union.

HAUSMANN, MAX—Head of a private school in Switzerland who helped connect Dulles with SS officers during Operation Sunrise.

HIMMLER, HEINRICH—Reichsführer of the SS. Responsible for German security services and police forces, including the Gestapo.

HULL, CORDELL—US secretary of state, 1933–1944.

KALTENBRUNNER, ERNST—SS general and head of the Reich Main Security Office (RSHA), which incorporated numerous police and security services, such as the Gestapo and the Sicherheitsdienst (SD), the intelligence agency of the SS.

KENNAN, GEORGE F.—American diplomat and, late in the war, deputy head of mission, Moscow.

KEITEL, WILHELM—German field marshal who opposed Operation Sunrise.

KOLBE, FRITZ—Member of the German Foreign Ministry who supplied Dulles with secret Nazi documents. Code-named “George Wood.”

LANGBEHN, CARL—Berlin attorney who opposed the Nazis. Arranged a meeting between Himmler and Popitz to discuss a coup.

LEMNITZER, LYMAN—US army general. Worked with Dulles on Operation Sunrise negotiation.

MAYER, GERALD—US Office of War Information officer. Helped Dulles get set up in Bern.

MENZIES, STEWART—Chief of MI6, 1939–1952.

MOLOTOV, VYACHESLAV—Soviet minister for foreign affairs, 1939–1949.

MOLTKE, HELMUTH JAMES GRAF VON—German aristocrat who worked in the Abwehr and helped found the Kreisau Circle resistance group.

MUSSOLINI, EDDA—Daughter of Italian prime minister Benito Mussolini and wife of Italian foreign minister (1936–1943) Galeazzo Ciano.

OSTER, HANS—German army officer who joined the Abwehr. A principal figure in plots to depose or murder Hitler.

PARILLI, LUIGI—Italian businessman who had connections with the SS.

PARRI, FERRUCCIO—Italian resistance fighter. Prime minister, 1945.

PHILBY, H. A. R. (“KIM”)—MI6 agent who spied for the Soviets.

POPITZ, JOHANNES—German Finance Ministry official who met with Himmler in 1943 to discuss a coup.

RIBBENTROP, JOACHIM VON—Reichsminister for foreign affairs, 1938–1945.

SCHELLENBERG, WALTER—SS general in charge of foreign intelligence. Close confidant of Himmler.

SCHULTE, EDUARD—German industrialist who reported Nazi plans for mass murder of Jews. An important source for Dulles.

SCHULZE-GAEVERNITZ, GERO VON—German-American businessman living in Switzerland who worked with Dulles and the OSS in Bern.

STAUFFENBERG, CLAUS VON—German army officer who led the Valkyrie plot to kill Hitler on July 20, 1944.

TRESCKOW, HENNING VON—German army general who plotted to kill Hitler in March 1943. Also joined the July 20, 1944, plot to assassinate the Führer.

TROTT ZU SOLZ, ADAM VON—German diplomat and an important figure in the Kreisau Circle resistance group.

WAIBEL, MAX—Swiss intelligence officer who worked with Dulles.

WOLFF, KARL—SS general and commander of SS forces in Italy who contacted Dulles about surrendering German forces in the country.

ZIMMER, GUIDO—SS captain who participated in the first meetings about Operation Sunrise.



CHAPTER


1

Portal on the Reich

At movie houses across America in 1942, newsreels depicted maps of Europe that showed territory occupied by Germany and its allies. Stretching across the screen, from the English Channel to the Soviet Union, the Nazi reach and terror seemed unstoppable. One small pocket, though, was carefully illustrated to show an area that did not belong to the Germans. Pointing through the projector’s flickering light, parents might have noted to their children that the missing piece of the Third Reich was Switzerland, that country of soaring peaks, fields of cows, and alpine meadows, just as they may have seen in Shirley Temple’s 1937 movie Heidi.

What few American parents knew was that Switzerland was home to a thriving community of spies. Secret agents—German, Hungarian, Japanese, British, American, Italian, Chinese, Polish, and Soviet—had been drawn to the country for years for its long-standing policy of neutrality and its geographic position at the heart of Europe. By day, secret agents plotted one another’s political destruction. By night, at the Hotel Bellevue Palace, they laughed and drank at tables within easy earshot of each other. At the golf course, intelligence agents politely allowed their faster counterparts from enemy nations to play through. At fragrant bakeries, they patiently stood in the same lines for the morning’s croissants.

Where so many spies congregated, so did their camp followers, scoundrels hoping to make a quick franc peddling information of suspect quality, resistance fighters, and women willing to trade their bodies to advance their cause. Everyone, or so it seemed, was a double agent trying to keep all the stories straight.

On a chilly Sunday in January 1943, an American with the physique of a lifelong tennis player strode through the quiet streets of the nation’s financial capital, Zurich. Allen Dulles, a portrait of confidence, had been in Switzerland only a couple of months in the employ of the US government. To anyone who would ask, he would say he served as a special assistant to the American head of mission, Leland Harrison. The claim made sense for someone like him, a suitable way for a former diplomat to do his part for the war effort. Yet aiding the American minister was not the reason he had come to Switzerland. William Donovan, the head of the Office of Strategic Services (OSS), the fledgling American intelligence service, had assigned him to get a Swiss station up and running to spy on Nazi Germany.

At age forty-nine, Dulles was one of those rare individuals whose vintage only improved with the years. His hair, though slightly thinning, was still sufficient for a respectable part, and his mustache was full. A Wall Street lawyer and a member of a family that ranked among America’s ruling class—two relatives had served as secretaries of state—he projected a worldliness that was unusual for an American. Maybe it was the blue eyes that twinkled behind round rimless glasses or the disarming pipe perched between his teeth, but Dulles could, when he wished, assume an engaging personality that made others take an instant liking.

Dulles was in Zurich to meet a man he had been warned to avoid, a German named Hans Bernd Gisevius. Like Dulles, Gisevius lived in Switzerland under false pretenses. Officially he carried the title of vice consul attached to the German mission in Zurich. Espionage circles knew that he was really an agent of the Abwehr, the intelligence arm of the German military. As a newcomer, Dulles was an obvious target for Germans like Gisevius who feasted on inexperienced spies. Yet exactly because he was new to town and eager to establish an intelligence network as quickly as possible, Dulles had kept an open mind. “Our countries were at war. A meeting between us was hardly according to protocol,” Dulles later wrote. Checking with what few contacts he had been able to develop, Dulles concluded that if he kept his guard up, meeting the German spy was worth the risk.

Greeting Gisevius at an undisclosed location, Dulles was confronted with a solidly built, handsome man who was more than a little imposing. Standing some six feet four inches, he was known to his friends as “Der Lange” or “the tall one.” At first blush, Gisevius exuded the air of an academic. With his round thick glasses, he had the look of a “learned professor of Latin or Greek.” Yet he had spent virtually his entire career in German security and police services, including the Prussian Gestapo, and he bore the imprints of the profession. His manner was stiff, formal, and guarded, and he frequently came across as arrogant. One who knew him well attributed a “brutal” aspect to his appearance.

Gisevius had come to Dulles with a clear agenda. He explained that there were many brave souls in Germany who wanted to rid their country of Adolf Hitler and were ready to take action. All they needed was help from the Americans, which they hoped Dulles could arrange. They could kill or depose the Führer, but Gisevius and his friends needed to know whether Washington would negotiate a peace treaty with a new German government. Overthrowing their Fascist dictator without such assurances, he said, could lead to revolution and chaos.

Dulles dismissed Gisevius that night without any record that he offered the slightest encouragement. Gisevius would soon travel to Berlin to join fellow conspirators in a bold plot, while Dulles dove into what he considered more important projects.

•  •  •

Though Dulles didn’t take Gisevius seriously that evening, much of what the German said rang true. Allied intelligence services knew there were pockets of resistance within Germany. In company canteens, noisy local beer halls, and even closed-door meeting rooms at the German army headquarters in Berlin, groups of men and women had gathered to plot against Hitler since the first of the eerie torchlight parades in 1933 that signaled the Nazis’ rise to power. Their motivations were varied—religious leaders detested the Führer’s merciless attacks on Jews; politicians, especially those on the left, hated his attitude toward the Communists; and army officers were terrified he would ruin the Wehrmacht. All feared that Hitler was leading their beloved country to ruin.

Some resistance members had been making their way to the West to issue warnings. In the late 1930s, several had traveled to Switzerland to open lines of communication with the British government. Others had turned to contacts in the British aristocracy. One, a Munich lawyer, Josef Müller, made contact with the British using Pope Pius XII as an intermediary. Still another, the German politician Carl Friedrich Goerdeler, had turned to Jakob Wallenberg, a member of the Swedish banking family, to reach out to Western capitals.

Yet Dulles had reason to be wary about Gisevius. In November 1939, the Abwehr had captured two British spies near the Dutch town of Venlo, after German agents had similarly approached them to work together. Although it was unlikely the Germans would try to kidnap Dulles himself—the Swiss took a dim view of such lawlessness—it was possible, even likely, that Gisevius’s purpose was to worm his way into Dulles’s confidence to gain information that could be used to break American codes or discover the identity of Allied agents.

Another reason for caution was the nature of Dulles’s assignment. His superiors had made it clear before he left Washington that he was to lead psychological campaigns to demoralize the German people and troops, to learn what he could about Nazi secret weapons, and to deliver order of battle intelligence such as enemy troop strengths. Dulles also hoped to work with members of resistance movements, and he had access to money to help fund their operations. But engaging in high-level political negotiations exceeded his brief.



CHAPTER


2

“I Have Never Believed in Turning Back”

Dulles’s journey to Switzerland had begun a little over a year before his meeting with Gisevius. On the afternoon of December 7, 1941, he was lounging at his town house on tree-lined East Sixty-First Street in New York City. He and his wife, Clover, had hosted a debutante ball for their daughter Joan at the Hampshire House on Central Park South the previous evening and were starting the day slowly. He looked forward to listening to a football game between the New York Giants and the rival Brooklyn Dodgers at the Polo Grounds. At about three in the afternoon, Dulles heard a report that the Japanese had just attacked the US Pacific Fleet at Pearl Harbor in Honolulu, Hawaii.

Around the same time, the public-address system in the stadium crackled with an announcement that William Donovan was to report to a telephone for an important call from Washington. President Roosevelt wanted Donovan, the head of a recently established espionage unit called the office of the Coordinator of Information (COI), in Washington immediately.

Donovan and Dulles were well acquainted. Once competing Wall Street lawyers, they shared an interest in international affairs and public service, played tennis together, and were members of the same clubs. Donovan had occasionally turned to Dulles for advice about getting his fledgling American spy agency up and running. When the United States formally entered the war a few days after Pearl Harbor, he persuaded Dulles to join the group.

For several months Dulles ran a COI station in New York, operating out of the former offices of a diamond merchant on the thirty-sixth floor of the International Building at Rockefeller Center. There he assembled a staff of men and women charged with learning all they could about Nazi Germany. Relations with important Germans living in the United States were established. Agents greeted ships arriving in New York from Europe to interview people who may have recently been in the Third Reich. Used clothing of German fashion was purchased to supply prospective American agents. A special maritime office was established at 42 Broadway, where foreign sailors were forced to submit to interviews to obtain information about ports such as Genoa, Marseilles, and Naples. In one report, Dulles’s team collected information and maps about the latest conditions around the Sahara desert from a French engineer.

It was a period of learning on the job for Donovan’s entire enterprise. Though George Washington had promoted covert operations during the Revolutionary War, intelligence gathering had become a lost art for Americans in the twentieth century. Protected from much of the rest of the world by two oceans, Americans were not supposed to care about the secrets of other countries. Spying was considered a dirty business—Henry Stimson, the secretary of state in the Hoover administration, famously remarked that “gentlemen don’t read each other’s mail.” Even in the late 1930s, though the United States was cracking enemy codes, human sources of intelligence were limited to a few dozen ambassadors and military attachés. Pearl Harbor, where the US Navy had been caught asleep by the Japanese sneak attack, was a testament to how low American intelligence had sunk. The coming of war finally awakened the United States to the need for better intelligence gathering. In June 1942, the president broke up the COI and created the OSS. American espionage entered a new age of excitement and at times mind-boggling confusion.

With mild blue eyes, a “rather dumpy, corpulent figure,” a soft voice, and ill-fitting clothes, Donovan ran the OSS with little thought to such basic tools as organizational charts or a chain of command. Ambitious staffers soon learned that the best way to land an assignment was simply to walk past Donovan’s open office door when he looked up. Some training manuals were hastily published, prepared with help from the British, but staffers understood they would have to live by their wits and even came to embrace their reputation as “enthusiastic amateurs.”

Donovan made good use of a secret budget to assemble a staff of academics, lawyers, journalists, movie directors, business leaders, and counterfeiters. The actor Sterling Hayden, dubbed “the Most Beautiful Man in the Movies,” joined Donovan’s team, as did a Major League Baseball player, the multilingual Moe Berg. Long before she would become a famous chef, Julia Child signed on with the OSS as a researcher.

Donovan established the OSS headquarters in a three-story granite building at Twenty-Fifth and E Streets atop Washington’s Navy Hill, a structure the OSS shared for a time with caged animals the Public Health Service used for syphilis research. For a few weeks, Donovan and members of his team were subjected to noxious odors as the dead creatures were disposed of in a nearby incinerator.

Yet the OSS was a thrilling place to work. Agents were deployed to exotic locations around the world with generous bank accounts and little direct supervision. Thanks to the work of OSS inventors, many packed fascinating toys to help carry out their missions. Deep in the basement of OSS headquarters, a New England commercial chemist and inventor, Stanley Lovell, crafted gadgets for Donovan’s field agents that were the stuff of James Bond. From his laboratories emerged miniature cameras tucked into matchbooks, explosives shaped like lumps of coal, and bombs made with combustible powder that looked like flour and could be kneaded and baked into bread.

Soon Donovan began to set up stations abroad, and few locales looked as promising as Switzerland. “Switzerland is now, as it was in the last war, the one most advantageous place for the obtaining of information concerning the European Axis powers,” Donovan wrote. As an initial step, he dispatched a former Treasury Department official, Charles Dyar, to Bern in early 1942, his cover that of financial attaché to the US mission. Dyar did a good job, but Donovan soon concluded that “we need badly a man of a different type.” What the post really demanded was someone who could “mingle freely with intellectual and business circles in Switzerland in order to tap the constant and enormous flow of information that comes from Germany and Italy to these people.”

Dulles didn’t speak German well and likely would have heartily agreed with Mark Twain’s assessment of “the Awful German Language,” but he had many qualities that made him a solid candidate for the post. For starters, he was well acquainted with Bern, widely considered the best city in which to establish an OSS station. There he had first tasted life as a spy in 1918, when he had been a young diplomat in the State Department. Settling into his post, Dulles listened intently as the first secretary of the legation outlined his duties: “I guess the best thing for you to do is take charge of intelligence. Keep your ears open. This place is swarming with spies.” Given a helping hand by friends in the Swiss secret service, Dulles quickly established communication links into Central Europe and the Balkans, tried to launch talks between the White House and the Austrian emperor, and weeded out German agents who applied at the mission for visas to the United States. “I cannot tell you much about what I do,” he wrote his father one night, “except that it has to do with intelligence.”

Dulles had also demonstrated that he possessed the right emotional makeup for his stealth profession when he met and struck up a relationship with a pretty young Czech woman who worked at the US mission. After he was seen out with her a couple of times, he was approached by a British agent who told him that his friend was not what she seemed. She had been passing secret information to the Austrians, and her betrayal had led to the arrest and execution of two Czech agents. That she was coerced to provide intelligence—the Austrians had threatened to harm her family back home—mattered not to the British.

A few evenings later, Dulles took the woman out to dinner and, as arranged, walked her home through the Old City. At a corner near the Nydegg Church, two men approached the couple and, as Dulles watched, silently bundled her away. “I never heard what happened to her,” he said. “It was my first lesson in intelligence. Never be certain that someone is not betraying you, just because you like and trust them.”

After his stint in Switzerland during World War I, Dulles had dabbled in espionage while stationed with the State Department in Constantinople, now Istanbul, in 1921. There he learned that an American naval vessel anchored in the Sea of Marmara could intercept shortwave radio traffic between Moscow and Communist outposts around the world, so he set up a system for eavesdropping on the communications. He collected so much information that he had to hire two Russian translators, running up a bill that made government bean counters back in Washington fume.

A few years later, practicing law in New York, Dulles occasionally attended a secretive group of leading Americans who had developed their own private espionage center, which they called “the ROOM.” Founded by Vincent Astor and other New York elites in 1927, the society included bankers, a naturalist, an aviation expert, a national tennis champion, and Franklin Delano Roosevelt. Known only to a small number of people, the group met at an apartment at 34 East Sixty-Second Street, which had an unlisted telephone number and a mail drop. Though the primary purpose of the gatherings was for members to trade information that might be useful in their various business enterprises, many simply wanted to rub elbows with adventurers. The ROOM often invited such guest speakers as the British author and former intelligence agent W. Somerset Maugham and the arctic explorer and naval commander Richard Byrd.

All this experience wasn’t the only reason Dulles may have won the Swiss posting—Donovan also likely wanted to get him out of his hair. Though the two enjoyed a good working relationship, Dulles never seemed to fully accept Donovan as his superior. The product of an established American Protestant family, compared with Donovan and his bootstrapping clan of Irish Catholic immigrants, Dulles hungered to be the one running things and making history. Once, visiting Donovan in his room at the Saint Regis Hotel in New York, Dulles found his boss’s door open and papers spread all over the bed, apparently left there while Donovan was using the bathroom. Dulles scooped up the papers; phoning Donovan from the lobby, he asked about a memorandum that was among the documents. Silence filled the telephone line until Dulles began to laugh, a prank that Donovan didn’t find funny.

By the autumn of 1942, Donovan had begun serious planning to send Dulles—assigned the code number 110 by rough alphabetical order—to Switzerland.

•  •  •

Getting to Switzerland during wartime was easier said than done. Dulles had to travel through Vichy France, a puppet state of Germany, to get there. For the time being, the Vichy government maintained diplomatic relations with the United States and allowed Americans to pass through its borders. But it would not do so for long. American troops, Dulles was warned, were planning an attack in North Africa as part of an Allied invasion. Once that happened, analysts in Washington figured that the Nazis would quickly occupy all of France and arrest any Americans they found on its soil.

Racing to get to Switzerland before the invasion, Dulles left New York in early November on a “flying boat” that could land on water. Among the plane’s refueling stops were the Azores, roughly nine hundred miles west of the European coast. The islands were well positioned for such flights, but they were also a constant headache for flight crews, as planes were forced to maneuver on largely unprotected and rough waters. Indeed, bad weather passed over the islands just as Dulles arrived, making the seas too choppy for his plane to take off. Only after a couple of days of watching the skies and fretting over the looming American invasion in North Africa were Dulles and the other passengers finally allowed to board their plane for the last leg of the flight, to Lisbon. After a night at the sumptuous Hotel Avis, Dulles hurried to the Spanish coast, where he caught a train north to the small Catalan fishing village of Portbou.

Disembarking while customs officials checked paperwork, he joined a Swiss passenger for a quick meal. “While we were eating, another Swiss passenger ran up to our table somewhat breathlessly and told us the exciting news: The Americans and the British had landed in North Africa! I tried to appear surprised and unconcerned—I was not surprised, but I was deeply concerned.”

Dulles now faced an anxious decision. He had an hour before the train to France departed and paced nervously around the station weighing his options. Should he keep going? Would they find him? How would Vichy authorities treat an American now that US forces had landed in North Africa? “It was one of the toughest decisions I ever had to make,” he wrote, “but I have never believed in turning back where there is any chance of going forward.” With considerable trepidation, Dulles boarded the train.

For a spy-in-waiting, Dulles got off to an oddly conspicuous start. Minutes after leaving Spain, his train came to a stop at the French border town of Cerbère, where crowds had gathered in the streets. News of the landings in Africa had spread fast, and many people had convinced themselves that their liberation from the Germans was imminent. “When the townspeople heard that an American had arrived, they seemed to feel I was the advance guard, that American troops were on the next boat, and the defeat of the Nazis was just around the corner.” It didn’t help that Dulles pulled out a bottle of cognac and passed it around.

Though Agent 110 was something of a star attraction in Cerbère, the authorities paid him little attention, and that evening he departed for Annemasse, an unremarkable French village that was the last stop before the safety of Switzerland.

Watching the French countryside pass outside his window during the night, Dulles was sure that the Nazis would take control of the border crossings by morning, if not sooner. The nearer he drew to the Swiss frontier, the edgier he felt. At each stop he made a point of disembarking and lingering on the station platform as long as possible in the belief that he might escape German controls that way. Finally, by late morning, his train came to a stop. Switzerland was now almost in sight. A quick change of trains and he would be home free.

As he descended the stairs from his coach and began to move along the platform, Dulles noticed that a line had formed in front of a desk where French gendarmes were seated. Standing behind them, watching over each passenger, was a man in street clothes who Dulles concluded must have been an agent of the Gestapo.

Agent 110 shuffled forward with the other passengers, hoping that Vichy policy had not yet changed. Reaching the front, he was asked to present his papers, an American diplomatic passport with his real name.

Noting that the man standing before him was an American, the French policeman immediately handed Dulles’s passport to the German agent and the two briefly conversed, the German writing something in a small notebook. The Frenchman asked Dulles to step aside.

The officer said that his men had just received orders to detain all Americans and Britons at the border. He must now make a telephone call. Dulles knew the following moments would decide his fate for years to come. He could be allowed to proceed to Switzerland and begin his work for the OSS, or be placed under arrest and led to a French prison, or worse. “If I were picked up by the Nazis in Vichy France the best I could hope for would be internment for the duration of the war.” At least, Dulles congratulated himself, he wasn’t transporting any secret documents.

The clock on the station wall showed the time was a little before noon.

Ever confident in his ability to charm, Dulles turned to the gendarme and launched into the “most impassioned and, I believe, most eloquent speech that I had ever made in French.” Noting a long and happy history between the United States and France, Dulles argued that all his papers were in order, he held a valid visa, and there was no legal reason for him to be detained. French authorities, he continued, surely had more important things to do than worry about one wayward American. When that didn’t work, Dulles let the policeman glimpse the contents of his wallet—a wad of large-denomination Swiss notes. Neither the speech nor the bribe worked.

It was a moment that tested Dulles’s mettle. Throughout his life, he had relied on a natural affability to get himself through tense situations, yet that skill had now failed him. Glancing around the station, he assessed exit routes and thought of making a run for it. Perhaps he could lose himself among others on the platform and eventually sneak across the border. “It wouldn’t have been easy,” he concluded.

With a final tick, both hands on the clock now pointed straight up.

The Gestapo agent who was blocking Dulles’s way may have represented a ruthless organization, but rules were rules, and twelve o’clock meant it was time for lunch. The German abruptly handed Dulles’s documents back to the French officer and spun toward the station’s exit.

The gendarme slid over to Dulles, passport in hand. France, he declared, was not a nation of collaborators. “Go ahead. You see our cooperation [with the Germans] is only symbolic.” Dulles scrambled aboard the train with the last of the other passengers.

•  •  •

Passing into Switzerland, Dulles was confronted with a country that, though neutral, had been transformed by the war. For several years the Swiss lived in near-constant fear that the Germans would invade. On at least one occasion they had been so convinced that the Germans were coming that civilians in the northern cantons had packed up their belongings to flee south. With a population of four million, Switzerland had early on mobilized some 450,000 well-trained and well-equipped soldiers, a figure that would swell during the war. Troops ranging from white-bearded grandfathers to apple-cheeked teenagers strung concertina wire, installed tank traps, and dug machine-gun posts. Road signs across the country had been taken down to confuse possible invaders. Ski patrols, clad in white, kept watch from high in the Alps.

From their late teens, Swiss men joined military reserve units that gathered regularly for much of their lives, each man provided with a rifle that he kept at home. Their marksmanship, as much a national passion as skiing, was superb. Equipment, too, was first-rate, down to the iconic all-purpose knives that Swiss soldiers carried. Demolition experts placed charges in tunnels and viaducts that could be detonated to slow a German advance and render the country less valuable if it were conquered. There were even plans to destroy a dam and flood a valley to stop the Germans from invading.

Heavily dependent on trade for many of the basic ingredients of life, the Swiss were willing to deal with anybody who could pay in hard cash. Swiss factories produced some of the best precision equipment and parts in the world, which the Swiss were happy, even desperate, to sell. In business offices they could haggle over contracts with ruthless Teutons one minute and make plans for a display of Swiss watches at a Yankee trade show the next. Swiss banks accepted deposits from high-ranking Nazis, no questions asked.

Life in neutral Switzerland was oddly surreal. The war meant nightly blackouts, rationing, and shortages of food and fuel. Yet within sight of Germany and the most feared secret police in the world, Swiss citizens could sit in outdoor cafés and openly mock Hitler. Many, despite the country’s long historical and linguistic ties to Germany, eagerly did so. At ski resorts and spas, the Swiss would laugh and sip hot chocolate, while a valley away, men, women, and children lived and died in wretched conditions.

Bern, Dulles’s final destination, was built on a horseshoe-shaped ridge of sandstone surrounded by the Aare River flowing swiftly one hundred–odd feet below. Dating to the twelfth century, the Old City was a tangle of cobblestoned streets and gingerbread buildings. Medieval shopping arcades festooned with the Swiss flag—red with a white cross—led to the famous Zeitglockenturm, one of the city’s ancient landmarks. Its tower piercing the skyline, the clock proclaimed each hour with a gilded, oversize figure of Chronos appearing to strike its bell. On clear days, the city’s 120,000 or so inhabitants could view the magnificent peaks of the Bernese Alps in the distance.

Finally alighting at Bern’s central station, Dulles cut through the Bahnhofplatz and headed for the American mission. He was ushered in and moments later was exchanging warm greetings with the head of mission, Leland Harrison.

Harrison, a product of Harvard and a career diplomat who had been in Switzerland since 1937, had known Dulles for decades. But before the two could chat about old times, the formalities of their meeting had to be observed—the sign and countersign required to prove that neither was an imposter. “Where did you have dinner your last night in Washington, D.C.?” Harrison asked. “At the Metropolitan Club,” Dulles answered, the two so amused at playing the charade that their roaring laughter could be heard far down the hall.
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The “Eternal Plotter”

Compared with Dulles, Gisevius had traveled a more winding and dangerous road to their meeting in January 1943. An “eternal plotter” in the words of one colleague, Gisevius was lucky just to be alive.

The son of a Prussian high court judge and a lawyer by training, Gisevius was opinionated and outspoken. Early in his career he had thrown himself into the major conservative causes of 1920s Germany, and political articles he authored resulted in several libel charges, one brought by Chancellor Heinrich Brüning.

In 1933, Gisevius joined the State Secret Police of Prussia, known in German as the Gestapo. Ambitious and cunning, he aspired to a senior place in the organization but was eventually disillusioned. The Nazis had yet to fully exploit the Gestapo to suppress dissent and to arrest their opponents, but working there offered Gisevius a disturbing window into how the party was consolidating power in Germany. Here, and later in a security position at the Interior Ministry, he witnessed firsthand the infamous Night of the Long Knives in July 1934, when Hitler oversaw dozens of politically motivated murders. A couple of years later, Gisevius observed how the Nazis concocted scandals to drive two respected army officers, War Minister Werner von Blomberg and General Werner von Fritsch, from their posts.

The Nazis’ disregard for the law, their efforts to destroy the careers and lives of respected officers, and the endless lies revolted Gisevius. Describing his work with the Gestapo during the early 1930s, he wrote, “We were living in a den of murderers in which we did not even dare step ten or twenty feet across the hall to wash our hands without telephoning a colleague beforehand and informing him of our intention to embark on so perilous an expedition.”

Gisevius also had more than one personal ax to grind with the Gestapo and the National Socialists. Early in his work with the secret police, he angled for a promotion by spreading a rumor that the head of the organization, Rudolf Diels, was a Communist. The strategy seemed to work when Diels, under attack from numerous political enemies, was dismissed. But it backfired when Diels returned to the Gestapo and a warrant for the arrest of Gisevius was issued. Gisevius survived, thanks to the protection of a few powerful friends, but his upwardly mobile career had been permanently knocked off track.

Thus driven by moral revulsion and private ambitions, Gisevius soon fell in with those who shared his growing distaste for the Nazis. By the mid-1930s, he had struck up a friendship with Hans Oster, chief of staff to the head of the Abwehr, Wilhelm Canaris. They would sometimes meet in a rowboat in the middle of the Schlachtensee, a lake southwest of Berlin—one of the few places where they could avoid detection. Later, Gisevius formed what would be a lasting relationship with Hjalmar Schacht, who in the late 1930s served as the president of the Reichsbank and Germany’s economics minister, and who abhorred the Nazis’ treatment of Jews.

In 1938, Gisevius began working with a coalition of men and women with roots in the German army that was plotting to remove Hitler. The level of commitment of the members wasn’t always obvious, but their primary objective was to organize a coup that would depose, but not necessarily kill, Hitler. With the Führer gone, they hoped to be able to quickly institute a democratic government and assume at least interim roles leading the nation.

Though the group was loosely organized, many of its members looked to Ludwig Beck, the former chief of the German general staff, for leadership. Hair thinning and still in fighting trim in his early sixties, Beck was a most unlikely rebel. A career officer, he devoted himself to the highest values of the army: loyalty, integrity, and love of country. Nor was he instinctively anti-Nazi. He had initially agreed with some of Hitler’s more controversial beliefs. Something of an introvert, Beck was, in the words of one conspirator, a man “whose main characteristic was that he thoroughly studied any matter before attempting to pass judgment on it.”

Beck broke with Hitler in 1938 when he learned of the Führer’s plan to invade Czechoslovakia, a folly he was sure would mean war with Britain and France, which the German army was in no way prepared to win. So committed was Beck to his duty, and so convinced that Hitler was leading the country to ruin, that he opted for the only course his code of ethics would allow and resigned his commission. Within months he was plotting Hitler’s downfall.

The key, Beck and others agreed, was to generate support for a coup among the officer corps of the German army. Respected by the general population, and holding ultimate power within the country, many army officers were dubious of the upstart Hitler and shared Beck’s worries that Hitler was wholly unqualified to lead the troops.

Yet the plotters faced what seemed like an insurmountable problem in persuading army officers to rebel. Each had taken an oath of loyalty that, for many, constituted an unbreakable bond: “I swear by God this sacred oath that to the Leader of the German empire and people, Adolf Hitler, supreme commander of the armed forces, I shall render unconditional obedience and that as a brave soldier I shall at all times be prepared to give my life for this oath.”

The words carried considerable weight, a solemn commitment that was a measure of an officer’s manhood. “Though they themselves [German senior officers] were not active members of the Nazi Party, and were in fact either suspicious of or hostile toward the party, their very passivity supplied the Nazis with a tremendous momentum,” Gisevius wrote.

Solid pockets of support for the Beck organization nevertheless remained scattered throughout the military. On the eastern front, where roving Einsatzgruppen razed villages and executed Jews and others en masse, a group of disgusted officers was open to joining a revolt. More surprising, a circle of Nazi opponents thrived within the military’s intelligence service, the Abwehr, under the protection of its enigmatic chief, Wilhelm Canaris.

Short in stature and slight in build, Canaris had once supported the party and equally despised the peace terms that had ended World War I. Yet he was far from a prototypical Nazi. A renaissance man, Canaris was skilled in languages and held a deep appreciation of other cultures, especially those of southern Europe. Over time, as he saw the Nazis in action, his admiration turned to disgust. He found in the Abwehr an organization well suited to a secret campaign to bring down the regime. Under the cloak of its many clandestine activities, most any plot could be explained away.

Cautious by nature, Canaris was not the type to undertake subversive operations on his own. He had once installed Halina Szymańska, the widow of a Polish army officer, in Switzerland and helped her develop connections with the British intelligence service. And he encouraged Abwehr analysts to prepare battlefield assessments for senior generals in ways that made it look as though Germany would lose the war. But his real value to the resistance movement was to create a place where other men, such as Gisevius’s friend Oster, could devise and execute their plots. By Dulles’s reckoning, roughly 5 percent of the Abwehr’s staff, many in key positions, were at any given time working against Hitler.

By the time Gisevius met Dulles in January 1943, Beck and his fellow conspirators had undertaken several attempts to remove Hitler from power, the most promising in 1938. As Beck had expected, Hitler advanced plans to invade Czechoslovakia that autumn on the pretext of protecting ethnic Germans living in border areas known as the Sudetenland. The coming invasion, Beck believed, provided a unique opportunity to launch a coup back home. Such a naked display of aggression, he reasoned, would galvanize international opposition to the regime and, more important, incite the German public and officer corps.

Plans were drawn up with the precision one would expect of a Prussian general. Hitler was to be arrested at the chancellery—few could bring themselves to actually kill him. Key ministries, communications centers, and police and Gestapo installations were to be quickly occupied. Work had even begun on a new German constitution. Key army officers were enlisted to help, as was Wolf-Heinrich Graf von Helldorff, the Berlin police chief. Gisevius drove throughout Berlin posing as a sightseer, secretly studying police and military installations, estimating their strength, and mapping alternate routes to each through gardens and nearby buildings.

Thorough as the preparations were, they could not control the interference of an outlier, British prime minister Neville Chamberlain. Determined to prevent a war, Chamberlain made several trips to Germany in September 1938 hoping to negotiate a deal with Hitler.

Desperately, the conspirators passed word through trusted contacts to London urging Chamberlain to stand fast and describing their plans to take over the country. Yet Chamberlain, along with French prime minister Édouard Daladier and Italian dictator Benito Mussolini, met Hitler in Munich late in the month and agreed to the German leader’s demands, including allowing Germany to occupy the Sudetenland. When the prime minister returned to London’s Heston Aerodrome on September 30, 1938, he emerged from his airplane to an enthusiastic crowd and waved the document bearing the signatures that had averted the crisis.

For Beck and the others, Chamberlain’s capitulation allowed Hitler to score a tremendous diplomatic triumph. A coup under such conditions was unthinkable. Several nights later, Gisevius, Schacht, and Oster gathered around a fireplace to burn their carefully constructed plans. “We spent the rest of the evening meditating not on Hitler’s triumph, but on the calamity that had befallen Europe,” Gisevius later wrote.

•  •  •

Throughout 1939, Beck and others in his group continued to nurture plans for ousting Hitler, and again hoped that a setback on the battlefield would generate wider support. Yet it was a lone individual, unknown to all of them, who came closest to achieving their goal, filling them with admiration and alarm.

Evenings in November 1939 found a Communist with dark, wavy hair and an inventive mind named Georg Elser hiding in Munich’s Bürgerbräukeller. Here Hitler was to deliver a speech on November 8, and here Elser had placed a time bomb of his own design with which he hoped to kill him.

Elser planned every facet of the attack with meticulous precision. He took jobs in an armaments factory and a quarry to steal materials for making a bomb, which he tested several times. Then, over numerous nights, he hid in the beer hall after closing time, making use of his skills as a cabinetmaker to hollow out a portion of a pillar near where Hitler was expected to stand and which held up the restaurant’s heavy roof. It was a painstaking job. To mask the sawing and hammering, he timed his work to coincide with noises outside the building. Before employees arrived each morning, he made sure to clean up any sawdust and carefully place a specially made cover over the hole he had carved out for his bomb.

The device went off as planned with spectacular precision and power, at exactly 9:20 p.m. Some eight people were killed and more than sixty wounded. Hitler, however, was not among them. He had changed his speaking schedule at the last minute when inclement weather grounded the plane that was to fly him back to Berlin. Instead, he took a train, a connection that forced him to leave the hall early. That evening Elser tried to cross the border into Switzerland. There he was found carrying technical drawings of shells, parts of a detonator, and a membership card of the “Red Front Fighters League.”

When Gisevius and others heard of the attack, they quickly concluded that it must have been part of an unknown conspiracy, likely one including army officers. Only such men would have had the technical expertise and access to explosives to carry out the attack. But as the days passed, and no new arrests were made, the underground began to accept that Elser had indeed carried out the feat alone. His timing device, which could be set days ahead of time, was an amazing piece of engineering. “Self-taught in planting bombs, he could well boast of having achieved a masterpiece,” Gisevius wrote.

Yet the attack unnerved many in the underground. They feared that another Nazi leader jockeying for power would simply replace Hitler if he were killed. “An assassination without a simultaneous Putsch would be senseless,” Gisevius wrote. “Responsible political men could not go in for anything of the sort.”

•  •  •

The next year went poorly for the resistance. Hitler seemed to be proving himself a military and diplomatic genius. In the spring of 1940, the German army stunned the Allies with an attack through the Ardennes forest in southeastern Belgium, a region that was supposed to be too rugged for German tanks to pass through. With German troops closing in on them, three hundred thousand British and other soldiers were evacuated from the French beaches of Dunkirk. Later in June, Paris fell. Delirious Germans celebrated the incredible sight of their troops goose-stepping down the Champs-Élysées. Attempting to topple Hitler at the height of his popularity and success, the members of the resistance had to admit to themselves, was almost pointless.
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“Roosevelt’s Emissary”

Wearing a gray tweed jacket and puffing on his ever-present pipe, Dulles met Gerald Mayer, a prematurely balding officer of the Office of War Information, at the Hotel Bauer-au-Lac in Zurich one afternoon in December 1942. Set along a small park and overlooking shimmering Lake Zurich, the Bauer exuded wealth and style. The public rooms were particularly impressive—Tudor panels decorated with Gobelin tapestries hung from the walls, and massive fireplaces crackled with warmth.

A good-natured former NBC correspondent, Mayer had come to Switzerland to apply his peacetime skills in service of the war effort and had assumed the role of counselor and guide for Dulles. Agent 110 didn’t need much help, though. He had hit the ground running.

In keeping with his diplomatic cover story, Dulles had initially taken an office near the American legation in Bern. But what he really needed was a place where potential sources could come and go without attracting attention. Within a few weeks, he found what would become his headquarters on a narrow cobblestoned street called the Herrengasse, or “Gentlemen’s Lane.”

Here, since the Middle Ages, the city’s elite had built stately yet tightly packed homes laid out east to west, offering a maximum amount of sunlight and views of the blue-green Aare River, which flowed powerfully below. Perhaps none of these structures was finer than the villa that stood midway down its length, at number 23. Viewed from the front, where a small fountain split the street, a heavy wooden door suggested that those inside were citizens of importance. Three rows of arched windows, accented by planter boxes, gave way to a steeply tiled roof that hung slightly over the sidewalk. A vineyard blanketed the back property, while three distant yet glorious peaks of the Jungfrau range of the Bernese Alps—the Eiger, the Mönch, and the Jungfrau—lay beyond. Here Dulles rented a spacious apartment on the ground floor.

The location was perfect for his needs. A nearby shopping area with its steady stream of foot traffic allowed visitors to slip in unnoticed, while a little-used back door provided additional concealment. With help from the police and old friends in Swiss intelligence, he arranged to have the streetlights turned off to prevent nighttime callers from being easily identified. It didn’t hurt that the villa, doubling as his living quarters, happened to be more than a little comfortable. Writing to his wife, Clover, Dulles described his new home as offering “the loveliest view over the river . . . and more space than I need.”

Armed with a lengthy list of promising names from his days in law and diplomacy, as well as from the files of the OSS, Dulles quickly built up a network of contacts. Max Shoop, an old legal colleague who had moved from Paris to Geneva, stood ready to connect him with resistance groups in France and Italy. Royall Tyler, a friend who worked for the Bank for International Settlements in Basel, offered Dulles an entrée into the network of international financiers moving in and out of Switzerland. And an Austrian lawyer, Kurt Grimm, provided Dulles access to his network of legal professionals throughout occupied Europe.

One informant even helped him locate a tailor for a wardrobe makeover. Hanging up his Wall Street pinstripes, Dulles was soon seen around town in blazers, flannel slacks, and corduroy. In the fashion of the times, he tended to wear a fedora pushed jauntily down on his head.

Dulles’s most important early contact was the man who would quickly become the number two in the Bern station, a German-American named Gero von Schulze-Gaevernitz. With the good looks of a ski racer—he also excelled in the sport—Schulze-Gaevernitz was the fortysomething son of an old Dulles friend who had once served as a cabinet minister during the Weimar Republic. Born to an American mother and a German father, he had grown up in Germany and built a successful career in finance. With the coming of war, the dashing and cultured businessman had taken American citizenship and moved to Switzerland to pursue his wide-ranging interests.

Schulze-Gaevernitz was universally described as calm, bright, and unfailingly loyal. Though an avid outdoorsman and sport lover, he nurtured intellectual passions that included the work of the Roman philosopher Lucius Annaeus Seneca. Even hardened American army officers walked away impressed. “He was a handsome, polished, well-mannered person . . . [who] . . . quickly attracted those around him,” noted one American colonel.

Schulze-Gaevernitz was also a confirmed opponent of the Nazis and had once nearly pulled off a scheme to smuggle Schacht, the economics minister, to Washington, DC, for secret talks with Roosevelt. “Gaevernitz was deeply motivated by the conviction that Germany had never been so thoroughly permeated by Nazism as many were inclined to believe and that there were people in Germany, even in high positions in both the civilian and military administration, ready to support any workable undertaking that would get rid of Hitler and the Nazis and put an end to the war,” Dulles wrote.

Most valuable for Dulles was that Schulze-Gaevernitz was immensely well connected. If Dulles wanted information on someone of importance, there was a good chance that Schulze-Gaevernitz either knew that person or knew someone who did. These contacts and others soon began offering a steady, though admittedly unspectacular, stream of information. Dulles collected details about German oil consumption, German weapons, and the mood of the German public.

Communicating this data back to the United States brought its own set of problems and pitfalls. One way to get documents and other information home was to ask diplomats from friendly, neutral countries to carry diplomatic pouches with secret correspondence when they traveled outside Switzerland. Leland Harrison had done that in the past, but such practices were unreliable, and the pouches occasionally went missing.

Another solution was a radiotelephone, and Dulles began to call Washington using a scrambling device loaned him by friends in the Swiss intelligence service. Scrambler or no, few doubted that the Swiss regularly listened in on his phone calls. Because some were suspected of regularly passing information to the Nazis, the radiotelephone could be used to communicate only the most mundane of reports.

That left the Swiss commercial telegraph system, clearly a case of being the best of the worst. Dulles’s messages out of Bern were simply encrypted by changing the order of individual letters, and breaking the code was not especially difficult. Yet it was time-consuming, requiring members of his staff to labor for long hours over his messages. After casting about for better ways to code telegraph dispatches, Dulles landed on a solution. A number of American planes had crashed or been forced to land in Switzerland and, thanks to the country’s neutrality laws, the crews were interned there. Turning to friends in the Swiss intelligence service, Dulles won permission to put a half dozen or so to work.
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